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Date:  June 7, 2011 
 
To:  Members, Ethics Commission 
 
From:  John St. Croix, Executive Director 
  By:  Mabel Ng, Deputy Executive Director 
 
Re:  Request for Waiver from Post-Employment Ban 
 
 
Doug Shoemaker, the Director of the Mayor’s Office of Housing (MOH), has 
submitted a request for waiver from San Francisco Campaign and Governmental 
Conduct Code (C&GC Code) section 3.234(a)(3), in order that he may take a job as 
President of Mercy Housing California, a non-profit housing organization located in 
San Francisco.  For the reasons discussed below and set forth in Mr. Shoemaker’s 
letter, as well as the letters of the Mayor and the Deputy Director of MOH supporting 
the waiver request, staff recommends that the Commission grant the waiver.  Mr. 
Shoemaker will attend the Commission’s June 13, 2011 meeting to address any 
questions from the Commission. 
 

Background 
 

According to its website, the mission of the MOH is to provide financing for the 
development, rehabilitation and purchase of affordable housing in San Francisco.  As 
the City’s housing finance agency, MOH guides and coordinates the City's housing 
policy.  It administers a variety of programs – through loans and grants – to finance the 
development of affordable housing by non-profit and for profit developers, provides 
financial and educational assistance to first-time homebuyers, and finances housing 
rehabilitation costs for low-income homeowners.  MOH is also responsible for 
monitoring and ensuring the long-term affordability and physical viability of the City's 
stock of affordable housing.   
 
In addition, MOH’s Community Development Division administers the federally-
funded Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) program, which provides 
decent housing, suitable living environments, and economic development opportunities 
principally for persons of low- and moderate-income.  MOH also administers programs 
to prevent homelessness and to enable homeless individuals and families to move 
toward independent living. 
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Relevant Law 
 
C&GC Code section 3.234(a)(3) provides the following: 
 
No current or former employee of the City shall be employed by or otherwise receive 
compensation from a person or entity that entered into a contract with the City within the 
preceding 12 months where the officer or employee personally and substantially participated in 
the award of the contract. 
 
Section 3.234(a)(3) ensures that City contracts are awarded on a fair and impartial basis by 
prohibiting any officer or employee who personally and substantially participates in the award of 
a contract from obtaining employment with the contracting party for one year.  (Sections 
3.234(a)(1) and (2) separately prohibit former City employees and officers from lobbying their 
former colleagues for one year or switching sides and taking positions against the City in 
particular matters.  Mr. Shoemaker is not seeking a waiver from these two restrictions.) 
 
The Commission may grant a waiver from the ban on employment with City contractors if it 
“determines that imposing the restriction would cause extreme hardship” for the individual.  See 
C&GC Code § 3.234(c)(3).  In making this determination, the Commission may consider:  the 
vocation of the individual; the range of employers for whom the individual could work; the steps 
the individual has taken to find new employment; and any other factors the Commission deems 
relevant.  See EC Regulation 3.234-4(a)(5). 
 

Discussion 
 
Mr. Shoemaker states that as part of his job as department head of MOH, he approves 150-175 
grants and loans each year.  He signs contracts, loan documents and grant agreements for some 
80-90 organizations annually.  In the past year, he has approved five contracts with Mercy 
Housing.  Because he “participated personally and substantially in the award of the contracts” by 
virtue of signing the agreements, he may not accept employment with the Mercy Housing unless 
the Commission waives the ban in section 3.234(c)(3).  See Ethics Commission Regulation 
3.234-5(e) (the “single act of approving [a contract] may be substantial”).  The Commission may 
grant his waiver request if the Commission determines that imposing the ban would cause 
extreme hardship for him.   
 
Staff believes that imposing the ban would cause extreme hardship for Mr. Shoemaker.  As he 
explains in his letter, Mr. Shoemaker has worked in the field of non-profit affordable housing 
throughout his professional career.  Because most, if not all, local non-profit organizations in his 
field have contractual relationships with MOH, for him to seek employment with any of them 
would pose the same conflict and would require the same waiver request.   
 
Mr. Shoemaker adds that the non-profit affordable housing field is small, so there are relatively 
few opportunities for employment, particularly in the City where he and his family reside, work 
and attend school.  Staff believes that Mr. Shoemaker may suffer financial as well as 
professional hardship because he will be unable to pursue his chosen career path if he cannot 
take the position offered to him by Mercy Housing.  As stated in the letter from the Mayor, Mr. 
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Shoemaker “is faced with the unenviable choice of leaving the field of affordable housing or 
leaving our City in order to accept work outside of government.” 
 
Mr. Shoemaker states that he has not taken any action to influence Mercy Housing to offer him a 
position.  Nor has he signed any contracts or made any decisions regarding its funding since he 
began talks about possible employment with the organization.  Instead, as indicated in the two 
letters supporting his waiver request, all decisions related to Mercy Housing have been delegated 
to the Deputy Director of MOH during that period. 
 
The post-employment restriction in section 3.234(a)(3) was designed to prevent corruption, 
favoritism or inappropriate influence in the City’s contracting process.  There is no apparent risk 
of any of those harms here.  Moreover, the prohibition would cause undue hardship to Mr. 
Shoemaker for the reasons discussed above and in his letter.  For these reasons, staff 
recommends that the Commission grant the waiver. 
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